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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
20I0FEB21 AM

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

V.

ALEXANDER QUAGLIA,
RYCHARD MCKEOWN,
BRENT NISfflGUCm,
NAVIGATOR MARKETING LTD., and
ROCKPORT PROMOTIONAL

MARKETING LLC,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

viLActieaNo.

U.S.

MAtSUMOTO, J.

GOLD, MJ.

9:32

DURT
iiior

Plaintiff, the UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, by and through the undersigned attomejjs
hereby alleges as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. The United States brings this action for a temporary restraining order, prelimina^

and permanent injunctions, and other equitable relief pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1345, in order

enjoin the ongoing commission of criminal mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1349.

The United States seeks to prevent continuing and substantial injury to the victims of fraud.

2. Since at least 2011, and continuing to the present, defendants Alexander Quaglia

("Quaglia"), Rychard Mckeown ("Mckeown"), Brent Nishiguchi C*Nishiguchi"), Navigator

Marketing Ltd. (^'Navigator") and Rockport Promotional Marketing LLC ("Rockport')

(collectively "Defendants"), using the U.S. mail, have engaged in a predatory mail fraud scheme

that targets victims throughout the United States and abroad.
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3. Since at least 2011, Defendants have sent millions of written solicitations throng

the U.S. mail to recipients throughout the United States and abroad. These solicitations are styled

as individualized notices that the recipient has won large sums of money or other valuable prizes.

The solicitations purport to come from a person or institution tasked with facilitating the deliveiy

of these proceeds or prizes to the solicitation's recipient. The solicitations ask recipients to return

a response card with a processing or delivery fee in an envelope pre-addressed to a U.S. or forei^
mailbox. The solicitations claim that the fee will assure prompt processing and receipt of the

promised funds and prizes.

4. In reality, these solicitations are not personalized letters, but nearly identical form

letters that Defendants send to thousands of potential victims throughout the United States and

around the world. None of the entities from whom the letters are purportedly sent exist. They are

fictitious names utilized by Defendants to perpetrate the fraud and to conceal their identity.
!

5. Victims who pay the processing or delivery fee never receive the promised money

or prizes. Instead, the victims are bombarded with dozens of additional, similar fraudulent

solicitations.

6. Many thousands of victims, especially the elderly and vulnerable, suffer financial

losses from the mail fraud scheme Defendants perpetrate. Since 2011 alone, the Defendants have

swindled victims out of millions of dollars.

7. Although Defendants are not currently targeting U.S. victims. Defendants have

previously targeted U.S. victims, and could resume targeting U.S. victims at any time if not

enjoined by the Court. Further, Defendants currently use the U.S. mail to perpetrate this fraud

scheme against foreign victims. Defendants receive victim payments at U.S.-based mailboxes,

order to give victims the impression that the solicitations come from U.S.-based companies.

m
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8. For the reasons stated herein, the United States requests injunctive relief pursuaii

to 18 U.S.C. § 1345 to enjoin Defendants' ongoing scheme to defraud using the U.S. mail iin

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1349.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

9. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 18 U.S.C

§ 1345 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345.

10. Venue lies in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2).

PARTIES

11. Plaintiff is the United States of America.

12. Defendant Alexander Quaglia is a resident of Canada.

13. Defendant Rychard Mckeown is a resident of Canada.

14. Defendant Brent Nishiguchi is a resident of Canada.

15. Defendant Navigator Marketing Ltd. is British Columbia, Canada registered

company. Quaglia is the CEO and sole shareholder. Mckeown is the Executive Vice President at

Navigator.

16. Defendant Rockport Promotional Marketing LLC is a Delaware limited liability

company owned by Nishiguchi.

17. Quaglia, Mckeown, and Nishiguchi control and operate Navigator and Rockport

and utilise these corporate defendants to peipetrate the mail fraud scheme alleged herein.

18. In connection with the matters alleged herein. Defendants have caused fraudulent

solicitations and the responses to those solicitations to be delivered through the U.S. mail to/from

victims throughout the world. Defendants have also caused fraudulent solicitations and tl|ie

3
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responses to those solicitations to enter the U.S. mail at the United States Postal Service

International Service Center located at John F. Kennedy Intemational Airport (the "New York

ISC") in the Eastern District of New York.

DEFENDANTS* ONGOING FRAUDTJT FNT srHF.MF.

19. Beginning as early as 2011 and continuing to the present, Defendants, using tlie

U.S. mail, have engaged in a mail fraud scheme that has defrauded thousands of victims throughout

the United States and the world of millions of dollars.

20. In furtherance of the fraud scheme. Defendants send solicitation letters through

foreign and U.S. mail to recipients throughout the United States and in other countries around tie
world, including Japan, Germany, France, the United Kingdom, Australia, the Netherlands ar d

Italy. The fraudulent solicitations typically seek payments or "processing fees" for bogus lotteries,

sweepstakes and other large cash prizes that are never awarded to the victim. These solicitations

target the elderly and vulnerable. The solicitations and victim responses generally enter the U.S.

Mail from abroad through the New York ISC in the Eastern District of New York.

21. Historically, Defendants have sent millions of solicitations to potential victims

throughout the United States. Currently, Defendants have focused their ongoing scheme on

foreign victims in response to various U.S. law enforcement actions targeting mass mail fraud.

However, Defendants continue to utilize the U.S. mail to execute the scheme against foreign

victims.

22. Defendants send solicitation letters that are written to appear as if they are being

sent by different organizations and individuals with vague, yet official sounding names and titles

such as "Corporate Billing Services." All of these "organizations" and individuals are fictitious

None of the solicitations identify Defendants as the sender.

4
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23. Each solicitation contains multiple misrepresentations designed to induce elderly

and vulnerable victims to send payments to Defendants. Defendants' solicitations typically falsely
inform recipients that they have won a sweepstakes or lottery or are otherwise entitled to receijve

large sums of money. See, e.g., Ex. A-C (representative solicitations).^ The solicitations purport

to come from a person or institution tasked with facilitating the delivery of these proceeds or prizes

to the solicitation's recipient. The solicitations urge the recipient to pay a required "processing"

or "delivery" fee, generally $20 to $50, to assure processing and delivery of the promised mom;y.

24. Each solicitation contains a response card and a pre-addressed return envelope. The

recipient is instructed to fill out the response card and send it to the fictitious entity along with ]iis

or her payment. The response card frequently asks victims to affirm that they accept their winnmgs
[■

and to confirm their identity and address. The cards instruct victims to make a payment to the

fictitious entity via cash, check, money order or credit card.

25. In reality, while Defendants collect the payments in response to these solicitations,

victims who send in responses and payments never receive the valuable prizes promised in the

solicitations.

26. Defendants include inconspicuous fine print often on the bottom or back of their

solicitations that purports to set out terms and conditions. These hidden "disclaimers" are prini:ed

in light colors, tiny font, and block text, making them barely legible. In many cases, these difficult-

to-read "disclaimers" directly contradict the claims in the main body of the solicitation. For

example, solicitations claim that the recipient has already been confirmed the winner of mone>| in
bold, prominent lettering, but then explain in inconspicuou.s text that the solicitation is not a

^  All exhibits cited herein are attached hereto. The names of the recipients of solicitations have
been redacted to protect their privacy.
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sweepstakes or award notification and does not guarantee winnings. Victims who sent paymenis

in response to these solicitations did not receive the promised checks or prizes. Recipients are

highly unlikely to see, let alone read and understand the print in the disclaimers. These hidden

disclaimers do nothing to counteract the overall impression conveyed by the solicitations that tiie

recipient will receive thousands of dollars if the recipient pays the processing fee.

27. The solicitations are styled to give the impression that they are personalized to tlie

recipient, but in fact, they are identical mass mailings. The solicitations typically contain m

identification number inserted into the form letter and ask the recipient to confirm that he or she

in fact the person identified as the winner of the promised money.

28. Despite misrepresentations that the solicitations are unique and personalize^l,
thousands of nearly identical copies of each solicitation are sent to potential victims every month.

29. Quaglia and Mckeown review and approve the content of these fraudulent

solicitations before they are mailed. They also coordinate with third parties to carry out tlie

printing and mailing of these fraudulent solicitations.

30. All of Defendants' direct mail solicitations contain pre-addressed return envelopes

to facilitate the return of victim payments. These return envelopes are addressed either to {i)
1

various foreign mailboxes that are rented on Defendants' behalf by what is known in the direct

mail industry as a "caging" service or (ii) U.S. Postal Service mail boxes or private mail boxes

held by Commercial Mail Receiving Agencies in the United States or Canada.

31. For mail pre-addressed to a "caging" service, the caging service acts as a hub

though which responses to Defendants' and other mass-mailers' fraudulent solicitations are sorted,

processed and recorded. When the caging service receives victims' responses, it opens the msiil,

records information regarding the victim's identity, payment method, and amount of payment in a
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database, and facilitates the transmission of cash, checks and credit card information ̂

Defendants.

32. Defendants rent mailboxes in their own names and the names of third parties at Post

Offices and Commercial Mail Receiving Agencies ("CMRAs") throughout the United States in

order to receive victim payments. The CMRAs are instructed to forward the mail to a CMRA box

in Vancouver, Canada held by Defendants or Buffalo, New York, where a courier picks up ttie

mail and transports it across the border into Canada. This method of receiving payments has been

verified by the USPIS through United Parcel Services and Federal Express records.

33. More specifically, Nishiguschi and Quaglia rent these mailboxes throughout tlie

United States to receive victim responses in the name of various companies including Roclqiort.

For example, a Youngstown, Ohio mailbox used by Defendants to receive victim mail was opened

by Nishiguchi through Rockport using a credit card bearing Quaglia's name.

34. The names of the companies under which these mailboxes were opened are never

printed on any of the fraudulent solicitations. Rather, in order to conceal Defendants' identities

and the source of the solicitations, all of the solicitations bear the name of still other fictional

entities and individuals.

35. Defendants utilize U.S.-based mailboxes to receive victim payments in order to

give the impression to recipients that the fictional entities listed on the solicitations are located in

the United States, and to conceal their own identities and locations.

36. Once the victim payment mail crosses the border to Canada, it is routed to

Vancouver where police surveillance has observed Quaglia, Mckeown, and Nishiguschi pickuig

up the mail from numerous CMRAs on an almost daily basis to capture the payments from victims

and taking the proceeds to currency exchanges.
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37. The mass mailing process, as described above, is entirely overseen by Quaglia (the

CEO of Navigator) and Mckeown (the Executive Vice President at Navigator) from start to ficish

as well as other Navigator employees using Navigator email addresses

(@navigatormarketingltd.com). Quaglia and Mckeown review and approve solicitations from

individuals paid to create those solicitations. Quaglia and Mckeown also personally, and throi|gh
other Navigator employees, coordinate with other third parties to oversee and carry out the printing

and mailing of the fraudulent solicitations, including working with printers/distributors, caging

services, and CMRAs receiving victim responses to the solicitations. Nishiguchi, through his

company, Rockport, opens the mailboxes used to receive victim payments.

38. In terms of scope and volume, an email from Quaglia in March 2017 indicates t tiat

Navigator mails to "just about every country in the world" and it "usually mail[s] 500,000 to 1

million times per month worldwide."

39. Defendants mail the fraudulent solicitations to potential victims in multijple

countries—^in addition to the United States—including Japan, Germany, France, the Uni

Kingdom, Australia, the Netherlands and Italy. Following enforcement actions by U.S. authorities

against mass mail fraud perpetrators in 2016, Defendants continued sending the same frauduLmt

solicitations to victims, but changed the focus to foreign victims.

40. Defendants are currently utilizing U.S. mailboxes and the U.S. mail to recei ve

payments from foreign victims and route those payments to Vancouver, Canada where the victim

response payments are personally retrieved from CMRAs by Quaglia, Mckeown, and Nishigucjhi.
41. Defendants identify the recipients who will receive their solicitations by renting

lists of "leads," containing the names and addresses of potential victims who are likely to respond

to their solicitations. Defendants rent these lead lists from third-parties through the use of a "list
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broker." Defendants also compile, and rent out to other mailers, lists of victims who have
1

i

responded to Defendants' solicitations. As a result, victims who make payments in response to

Defendants' mail fraud scheme also receive solicitations from, and are victimized by, many other

similar sweepstakes and lottery related mail fraud schemes.

SPECIFIC MISREPRESENTATIONS

42. The specific fraudulent solicitations described below are representative exampjles

of the different fraudulent solicitations sent by Defendants since 2011.

The "Corporate Billings Services" Solicitation

43. One solicitation sent by Defendants purports to have been sent by "Corporate

Billing Services" and creates the false impression that its recipient has won $798,000 and need

only mail in a fee of $20.00 to receive delivery of the prize. See Exhibit A.

44. The notice states in bold, large print at the top "AMOUNT REPORTED:

$798,000.00" and proceeds to inform the victim that he/she is entitled to a "GUARANTEED" cjish

award. The notice bears what appears to be a hand written signature from a "John Masterson" in

"Accounts Receivable," but this "signa.ture" is in fact preprinted and appear in identical fashi on

on identical solicitations sent to thousands of other potential victims. Specific misrepresentatipns

contained in this solicitation include the following:

"We have received your signed Authorization for release of the Cash and Awards
entry procedure directives totaling $798,000.00, for which you are
GUARANTEED eligible to receive "

"Since we are certain that you would want to receive the $798,000.00 in Cash and
Prizes, we have dispatched this opportunity to rectify the situation and activate
delivery of the Entry Procedures for the entire $798.000.00."
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•  "But Hurry! Portions of the Entry Procedures Report is Time-Sensitive. Do not
miss out on Sponsor require entry dates."

•  "[Victim Name], don't miss this LAST CHANCE to receive your Sponsor
GUARANTEED Win-Opportunity for the $798,000.00 in Cash and Awards!
must receive your payment by 10.07.2016."

•  "Simply tear-off the form left and return it to our offices along with the $20 made
payable to the *CBS' in the envelope provided today."

•  "P.S. Remember, the entire $798,000.00 in Cash and Awards is FULLY
GUARANTEED for payment by third-party sponsoring agencies to determined
winners. So don't wait! Return your activation payment today!"

45. Recipients of this solicitation who returned the $20 fee did not receive a payment

of $798,000.00, or any other prize.

46. On the back of the solicitation, in small font is a statement that reads in part:

•  "Corporate Billing Services PPR is a marketing, research and reporting
service. We specialize in researching sweepstakes sponsored and
conducted by corporate organization with which the CBS is completely
unafiBliated. Please allow 6-8 weeks for processing and shipping. These
sweepstakes sponsors provide all entry requirements, based on existing
federal, state and local regulations ... CBS is not a lottery company, and
does not offer lottery, contest or sweepstakes entries. This promotion may
be under different creative presentation. You have not yet won. Void
where prohibited by law. Responders will be refiinded their purchase price
of our report in full if they are dissatisfied with the report. Refund claims
must be made in writing to the address on the previous page within 60
days of purchase Our service is 100% Guaranteed: if you are not fully
satisfied for any reason, simply write us to receive a Full Refund."

This text is written in tiny, closely spaced, block text, and has been formatted to be intentional y

difficult to read. Moreover, even if a victim were to read this statement, it does nothing to correct

the multiple misrepresentations on the firont of the solicitation that the recipient will receive

payment of $798,000.00 upon submission of the $20 fee.

10
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47. Defendants mailed nearly identical solicitations, save for the victim's name and

address, to thousands of potential victims. All of the solicitations contained a return envelope pre-

addressed to: 7100 Lockwood Blvd, PMB 400, Boardman, Ohio, 44512.

48. PMB 400, Boardman, Ohio is registered to Nishiguchi through Rockport, and paid

for by Quaglia using a credit card in his own name.

The "Capital Prize Reeistrv" Solicitation

49. Another solicitation sent by Defendants purports to have been sent by "Capital

Prize Registry" and creates the false impression that its recipient is entitled to receive $3,275,000

and need only mail in a processing fee of $19.95 and sign a "Personal Statement and Identity

Validation Section." See Exhibit B.

50. The notice purports to be from "Henry Krisly, Chief Executive Officer" and Charles

D. Smith, Director." The notice states in large print "Notice of SUPER-PRIZE Assurances" and

says "As verified: Money and Luxury Prizes are officially booked on report shipment pending

dispatch to you at this time." Toward the top of the page a block of text reads "Amount Pendin

Total Valuation: $3,275,000.00."

51. The solicitation goes on and makes fiirther specific misrepresentations, including

further statements about the "guaranteed" cash award, that receipt of the cash award-only

necessitates a $19.95 pajonent, and providing a false deadline:

•  The recipient is "eligible for receipt of Full Disclosure Documents with access to
Guaranteed Third-Party Sponsored CASH AND PRIZE Awards Totaling ****
$3,275,000.00 USD."

•  "As Chief Executive Officer of CAPITAL PRIZES REGISTRY, I have
personally authorized these documents and am at liberty to inform you that an
Awards Portfolio valued at *** $3,275,000.00 *** in FREE MONEY PRIZES
and FREE LUXURY PRIZES will be delivered to you with your compliant reply
to this signed notification. This is a real advisory."

11
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The award is said to be "GUARANTEED by the award sponsors and corroborated
by my office at ******* $3,275,000.00 IN MONEY AND PRIZES *******.»

"Enclosure of the mandatory fee for the Report shipment is REQUIRED and
indicated on the accompanying attachment (Part 2) and must be remitted with
return of the ENTIRE PAGE 2 DOCUMENT, fully completed. This fee is one
time incurrence and non-optional."

•  "Please respond within 7 days or sooner."

52. The response card is styled as a "Report Shipment Fee and Remittance Section"

and states "Award Amount in Aggregate $3,275,000.00". The response card refers to "FREE

MONEY" and "FREE LUXURY PRIZES". The response card then states that "REPORT

SHIPMENT FEE REQUIRED: $19.95" and asks for a method of payment to be provided. The

response card also contains a "Personal Statement and Identity Validation Section," asking the

victim to confirm their address so that the "FREE MONEY AND FREE LUXURY PRIZES, wi 11

be issued directly to me by mandate of the Capital Prize Registry."

53. Victims who sent in $19.95 and a completed claimant form in response to this

solicitation did not receive any funds or payment.

54. On the solicitation, in a block of text written in lighter font than the rest of the

solicitation (which is in bold), is a paragraph making the following confusing statement:

THIS IS NOT A SWEEPSTAKES: CAPITAL PRIZES REGISTRY DOES NOjl
SPONSOR ANY SWEEPSTAKES, MAKE ANY AWARD OF CASH OR
PRIZES, NOR DO WE ENTER YOU IN ANY SWEEPSTAKES CONDUCTED
BY INDEPENDENT SPONSOR CORPORATIONS INCLUDING ENTRY
INFORMATION AND SPONSOR-SET DEADLINES. THIS IS NOT A
SWEEPSTAKES OR AWARD NOTIFICATION AND DOES NOT
GUARANTEE ANY WINNINGS. YOU HAVE NOT YET OFFICIALLY WON
A PRIZE. INSTANT WINNING WITHOUT WINNER DETERMINATION
RECORD IS PROHIBITED.

Moreover, on the reverse side of the solicitation is a purported "Disclaimer" stating in relevant

part:

12
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This offer presents a subscription to Capital Prize Registry (CPR) magazine that
includes a prosperity lifestyle advisory section and compiled entry details for casii
awards and prize opportunities that are offered to the public by independent
sponsors Our service is 100% Guaranteed "

55. Even if a victim were to read these statements, it does nothing to correct the multiple

misrepresentations on the front of the solicitation that the recipient will receive a payment of
i

$3,275,000 upon submission of the $19.95 fee. |

56. Nearly identical solicitations were sent to thousands of other potential victims.

The "Awards Research Bureau" Solicitation

57. Another solicitation sent by Defendants to potential victims purports to have been

sent by "Capital Prize Registry" and creates the false impression that its recipient has won

$1,950,000 and need only send a $39.95 "report fee" to claim the prize. See Exhibit C.

58. The solicitation purports to come from "Harold O. Whiney" a "Records Officer

and "Albert Bauguin" the "Senior Appropriations Director" at "Award Research Bureau." It bears

a heading in capital bold letters claiming: "NOTICE OF PRIZE DISCLOSURE RELEASE,'

a subject line stating "FREE FINANCIAL REWARDS" and an "Official Description: Determined

Sweepstakes Sponsored Giveaways of FREE Money and Prizes" with the "Total Verified" amount

of "$1,950,000,000 USD."

59. The solicitation goes on to make a series of specific misrepresentations informinjj

the victim that he/she has won $1,950,000 and only need pay a $39.95 fee to obtain the prize:

•  "... the Award Research Bureau, we are now writing to inform you that ai
immediate Report disbursement is being readied for shipment to you.
****$1,950,000,000 in MONEY AND PRIZES will be yours upon receipt!" |

I
I

•  The return card "must be completed and retumed to proceed with all arrangements
through which your identification and primary/permanent delivery address is
assured for the Report shipment determined at *****$1,950,000.00 in FREE
GIVEAWAYS!"
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•  "... our processing department requests your undelayed reply and completion
of the aforementioned OFFICIAL FORM #4779-A on page 2. A one-time
mandatory Report fee of $39.95 USD is required and must be prepaid to AT JB.
(See page 2.)"

•  "Finally, my signature as Officer of Records appears below left, alongside that of
Albert Bauquin, Senior Appropriations Director, constituting the formal nature of
this letter and our executive policy of paid delivery."

60. The response card is styled as the official-sounding "FORM #4779-A" witlj a
"Total Monetary Valuation: $1,950,000.00". The response card contains a "DESCRIPTION ̂ F

WINNER AWARDS" and states that the prize is "Full Purse Verified." At the bottom of ihe

response card, where the victim is supposed to sign, the card again confirms that the prize "has

been tabulated in aggregate at ****$1,950,000.00****."

61. The response card also creates a false sense of urgency by containing ^

"IMPORTANr' notice that "DEADLINE SPECIFICITY IS IMPOSED BY COMMERCL^L

SPONSORS. DO NOT DELAY" and informs the recipient that the form must be completed and

returned in "7 days."

62. Recipients of this solicitation who return the $39.95 fee did not receive tike

promised prize.

63. On the bottom of the solicitation in small font is the following statement:

PUBLIC SERVICE DISCLAIMER: Award Research Bureau is a private,
independent organization. We are not a gaming organization. We do not sponsor
or operate any sweepstakes or enter you into any sweepstakes. We are not in
collusion with any sweepstakes or prize provider. We cannot officially or
unofficially state that you have won a prize. Regulatory requirements include
such language as this is not an award notification, there are no guarantee of
winnings and you have not yet won a prize. The Award Research Bureau
resources and compiles monthly report bulletins from sweepstakes and contests
conducted by commercial sponsors who are individually responsible to deliver
entered winners awards directly as we do not award any cash or prizes.
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The print is difficult to read. Moreover, even if a victim were to read this statement, it does not

dispel the misrepresentations elsewhere in the solicitation that the recipient will receive

$1,950,000 if he or she pays the $39.95 fee.

64. Nearly identical solicitations were seht to thousands of other potential victims.

65. The specific misrepresentations identified in Paragraphs 42 through 64 are only ̂

few examples of the similar misrepresentations contained in form letter solicitations utilized by

Defendants.

DEFENDANTS' KNOWLEDGE AND CONCEALMENT OF THE FRAUD

66. Defendants have operated this mail fraud scheme since at least 2011. Defendants

know that the solicitations they send to potential victims throughout the world contain false and

misleading statements intended to induce the recipients to send them payments.

67. Defendants style their solicitations as letters from fictional institutions and

individuals, knowing these entities do not exist, in order to mask the true origin of their

solicitations.

68. Defendants also know that, despite the fact that their solicitations direct victims to

send payment in exchange for large prizes, those who respond and send payments do not receive

the promised cash.

69. In an August 10,2015 email to Quaglia a business associate describes a proposed

solicitation and how the solicitation would be intentionally written to dupe and confuse potential

victims:

The offer will be to find out free information on an exclusive million dollar sweeps (or
the like). There will be a 'but wait there is more' secondary prize in the 10,000 Quid
range. The scratch is gonna make prospects feel like they've qualified for the next step
on die million. But the secondary scratch is gonna be confusing enough for the reader to
think they might have actually won the ten grand...

15

Case 1:18-cv-01102-KAM-SMG   Document 1   Filed 02/21/18   Page 15 of 35 PageID #: 15



Quaglia responded the same day to the proposed offer and says he is "not pinned to a size nor a

look: I'm fine with whatever pulls best in your opinion."

70. Defendants, in internal communications, exhibited an awareness of the illegal

nature of their scheme. In a July 23,2014 email from a Navigator employee to Quaglia and

others, the Navigator employee specifically proposes that Navigator stop using Gmail to avoid

detection by U.S. law enforcement:

Necessary side note: If our reputation becomes worse, of course our mail will be
held at the border, (repeat December 2013). We can run in circles and let them
chase us under a new business names, but I would like to point out, we use
GMAIL. Google is based out of the states. The NSA at any time, can come in,
take whatever info they'd like, take all of our documents from google drive,
access any and all of our IP addresses, regardless of where we re-route them, and
[expletive] us in the face, while we watch them. Not really keen on that. With
diis, I suggest discussing a new email server, based out of Toronto. Just a
suggestion. The laws in Canada, and the States are not the same. And I doubt any
Americans are going to notice, or investigate. The more complaints we get, the
more investigations, the more PacNet loses their desire to work with us. On goes
the ripple affect.

71. After U.S. law enforcement arrested four individuals in Florida and shut down

their mass mail fraud operation in May 2015, Navigator employees circulated a news article and

discussed shutting down all Florida operations to avoid detection by law enforcement with the

subject line "Shut down FLA immediately":

There was a big raid in south FLA recently. We should definitely think
about shutting down all boxes there, just to be on the safe side.

The other Navigator employee responded:

[Expletive] really!? That is 5 boxes. Damn, how did you get wind of that?-^

On the same day, a link to the news article on this topic was sent directly to Quaglia.

72. Similarly, after U.S. and Dutch law enforcement actions against Trends in Jime

2016, Defendants immediately ceased using Trends. In a June 6,2016 email Quaglia informed
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other Navigator employees, mcluding Mckeown, to: "Immediately cease using any and all BRE's

with Trends addresses. Note we have 1NL address that is not Trends.. .This box can be used

(unlike any Trends addresses)."

73. The manner in which Defendants operate the mass mailing schemes indicate j
attempts to conceal their identity, and involvement in these fraud schemes firom law enforcemeit.

HARM TO VICTIMS I

74. Victims, especially elderly and vulnerable victims, suffer financial losses from tne

mail fraud scheme that Defendants perpetrate. Many individuals are victims of multiple direct j
mailing schemes run by Defendants. If unabated, these losses will rise and continue harming |

Defendants' victims. j
75. Defendants' fraudulent scheme is ongoing. Absent injunctive relief by this Court,

Defendants will continue to cause injury to recipients of these solicitations. j

COUNT I I
(18 U.S.C. § 1345 - Injunctive Relief)

76. The United States realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through

75 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

77. By reason of the conduct described herein. Defendants violated, are violating, an(|

are about to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1349 by executing a scheme or artifice to defraud for

obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent representations with the intent to

defraud, and, in so doing, use the U.S. mail.

78. Upon a showing that Defendants are committing or about to commit mail fraud,

the United States is entitled, under 18 U.S.C. § 1345, to a temporary restraining order, a
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preliminary injunction, and a permanent injunction restraining all fiiture fraudulent conduct and

any other action that this Court deems just in order to prevent a continuing and substantial injury

to the victims of fraud.

79. As a result of the foregoing, Defendants' conduct should be enjoined pursuant to

18U.S.C. § 1345.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

"WHEREFORE, the plaintiff United States of Aiherica requests of the Court the following relief

A. That the Court issue an order, pursuant to 18 U^S.C. § 1345, pending a hearing and

determination on the United States' application for a preliminary injunction, that

Defendants, their agents, officers and employees, and all other persons and entities ir

active concert or participation with them are temporarily restrained from:

i. committing mail fraud, as defined by 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1349;

ii. using the United States mail, or causing others to use the United States mail, to

distribute any advertisements, solicitations, or promotional materials or to send oi

receive payments in response to any advertisements, solicitations, or promotional

materials:

(a) that represent, directly or indirectly, expressly or impliedly that the

recipient has won, ydll win, or will receive cash, awards, or prizes;

(b) that represent, directly or indirectly, expressly or impliedly that the

recipient will receive delivery of cash, awards, or other valuable prizes in

return for payment of a fee;

(c) that offer for sale information regarding sweepstakes or lotteries;

18

Case 1:18-cv-01102-KAM-SMG   Document 1   Filed 02/21/18   Page 18 of 35 PageID #: 18



(d) that represent, directly or indirectly, expressly or impliedly that for

payment of a fee the payor will receive delivery of an item or one of a

number of items, when in reality the payor will receive nothing or will

receive delivery of a different item, irrespective of whether the materials

contain a disclaimer or statement that the recipient will or may receive

delivery of a different item;

(e) that represent, directly or indirectly, expressly or impliedly, that the

recipient of the solicitation was specifically selected to receive the mailuig

based on a reason other than the fact that the recipient's name appears on a

mailing list; or

(f) that contain any other false or misleading representations;

iii. using the United States mail to receive, handle, open, or forward any mail that

responds, by sending payment or otherwise, to materials described in Paragraph

(ii)(a)-(f), supra\

iv. selling, offering for sale, leasing, or offering for lease any lists of U.S. residents

mailing lists of any type compiled from U.S. residents who have responded to any

of the materials described in Paragraph (ii)(a)-(f), supra;

V. performing "caging services" on mail received via the United States mail in

response to any of the materials described in Paragraph (ii)(a)-(f), supra,

including opening mail; entering or inputting data about responders into a

database or forwarding such data; handling, forwarding, or depositing payments

received from responders, including currency, bank checks, certified checks.

or
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money orders, or credit card charge authorizations; or handling or forwarding any

mail received from responders;

vi. destroying, deleting, removing, or transferring any and all business, financial,

accounting, and other records concerning Defendants' operations and frie

operations of any other corporate entity owned or controlled, in whole or in part,

by Defendants.

B. That the Court further order, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1345, that within 2 days from

Defendants' receipt of this Temporary Restraining Order and Order to Show Cause,

Defendants shall provide copies of this Temporary Restraining Order and Order to

Show Cause to all direct mailers, list brokers, printer/distributors, mailing houses,

caging services and/or payment processors with which they do business regarding the

materials described in Paragraph (ii)(a)-(f), supra, informing them that they are

subject to the Temporary Restraining Order as an entity in active concert or

participation with Defendants, and within 7 days from Defendants' receipt of the

Temporary Restraining Order and Order to Show Cause, Defendants shall provide

proof of such notice to the Court and the United States, including the name and

addresses of the entities and/or individuals to whom the notice was sent, how the

notice was sent, and when the notice was sent.

C. That the Court further order that, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1345, the United States

Postal Service is authorized to detain:

i. all of Defendants' incoming mail, mail matter, or packages transported in

interstate or foreign commerce addressed to any of Defendants' post office boxes,

private mail boxes or any other address anywhere in the United States of America,
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which consists of or contains responses to any of the materials described in

paragraph (ii)(a)-(f), supra, or;

ii. any of the materials described in paragraph (ii)(a)-(Q, supra, and any substantially

similar advertisements, solicitations, and promotional materials that are deposited

into the United States mail by Defendants, their agents, officers or employees, or

any other persons or entities in active concert or participation with them.

D. That the Court issue a preliminary injunction on the same basis and to the same

effect

E. That the Court issue a permanent injunction on the same basis and to the same effect.
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F. That the Court order such other and further relief as the Court shall deem just and

proper.

Dated: February 21,2018

Respectfully submitted,

RICHARD P. DONOGHUE

United States Attorney
Eastern District of New York

271 Cadman Plaza East

Brooklyn, New York 11201

MICHAEL J. CASTKiaONE

JOHNVAGELATOS

Assistant United States Attorneys
Tel. (718) 254-7000
Fax:(718)254-7508
Michael.Castiglione@usdoj .gov

CHAD A. READLER

Acting Assistant Attorney General
Civil Division

United States Department of Justice

ETHAN P. DAVIS

Deputy Assistant Attorney General

GUSTAVEYLER

Acting Director
Consumer Protection Branch

JILLFURMAN

Deputy Dire(^

ANNF.ENTWISTLE

Trial Attorney
U.S. Department of Justice
P.O. Box 386

Washington, D.C. 20044
Tel. (202) 307-0066
Fax: (202) 514-8742
Ann. F. Entwistle@usdoj.gov
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: $798,000.00

W
c liave received your signed Authorization for release of the Cash and Awarils entry procedure

directives totaling $798,000.00, for which you are GUARANTEED eligible to receive by Priority
Identification N

o. i00002948.

However^ because we did not receive the required $20 report paym
ent along w

itii your
Authnrizalion. delivery of the Entry Procedures for the .$798^000.00 in Cash and Award.s have been
tem

porarily .suspended.

Since we are certain that you would want to receive the $798,000.00 in Cash and Prizes, wc have
dispatched this opportunity to rectify the^ituatlbn and activate delivery of the Entry Procedures for the
e

n
tire

 $
7

9
8

.0
0

0
.0

0
.

But H
urry! Portions of the Entry Procedures Report is Tim

e-Sensitive. D
o not m

iss out on
Sponsor required entry dates.f, don't miss this LAST CHANCE to receive your Sponsor GUARANTEED
W

in-Opportunity for the $798,000:00 in Qwli and Awards! W
e must receive your payment by 18.07.2016.

Sim
ply tear-off the form

 left and return it to our offices along with the $20 inade payable to the
"CBS" in the envelope provided today.

Tliankypu for your attention to this m
atter.

Sincerely,

John M
astcrson

A
ccounts R

eceivable

P.S. Remember, the entire $798,000.00 In Cash and Awards If FULLY GUARANTEED for payment
by third-party sponsoring agencies to determined winners. So don't wait! Return your activation
paym

ent today!
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BEFORE YOU MAIL

1. Is your name and address correct on the Invoice?

2. Is your payment made payable to"C.B.S." ?

3. Please be sure to enclose the Invoice/Bill with your payment

THANK YOU FOR YOijSiSSiiMSiim

ft c?C^ \

a^jdUUxAA ^

ihi SSjOSl
tXMiSi,

Consumer information: Corporate Billing Services PPR is a marlcoling. researchdhcl reporting service. We
specialize in reseorching sweepstakes sponsored end conducted by corpor^ organization v«th whicli the
CBSis completely unafliiialed. Please allow 6-8 weeks for processing and shipping. These sweepstakes spon
sors provide all entry requirements, based an existing federal, state, and local regulations. CBS is not liable
for any enlries made or ollempted by readers of its reports. All sweepstakes reseorched and reporled ore
free to enter, as bosed on the information supplied by Ihe sponsors. CBS uses oil due diligence to occu-
rately report the entry deloils of each sweepstakes. CBS is not a lottery company, and does not offer lotteiy,
contest or sweepslokes entries. This promolion may be under different creative presentation. You have not
yet won. Void where prohibited by law. Responders will be refunded Iheir purchase price of our report in full
if they ore dissatisfied with the report. Refund ctaims must be made in writing to the address on the previ
ous page within 60 days of purchase, tf you do not wish to receive further moil solicitations from CBS. just
return this entire tetter in the envelope provided, with the tetters "DNM" next to your nome/oddress oreo. By
paying for your purchase with your chock, you are accepting our check acceptance policy, in the unlikely
event Ihol your check is returned unpaid, you understand and agree that your check may be electroni
cally represented and we will also collect a returned check processing charge as allowed by slate law. It
your check is electronically represented, it v/ill not be provided to you with your bank statement, but o copy
con be retrieved by contacting your financial institution. Our service is 100% Guaranteed: if you are not fully
satisfied (or any reason, simply write us to receive o FuH Refund. If you accept any Money or Prize from our
Reporled Sweepstakes, this guarantee is null and void.

g

w
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PLEASE PRINT CLEARLY;

NAME

CTATn/7JP

C.B.S.

A di^^ion of RPM
7100 Lockwood Blvd.

PMB400

Boiardman, Ohio

44512

USA

M61RE0616E
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REPLY ENCLOSED:

Namo ______

Address,

Ctty/StatoTip.

PLACE

STAMP

revifjon receipt

hk
PROPER FORM MUST BE ENCLOSED

ATTENTION PQRM; SQflfi

Capital Prize Registry
A division of WBA

MANAGEMENTS^!'PROCESSING CENTER: ;
S826 New Territory Blvd, Suite ICS

SuiDirljind, IX 77479

SZWDREOSte
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Disciaimcr

WMk. lor procosslog ond denmr. WO nw Sd ".'i.'^ Indopondool opoosors. Plooso olto 6-8
nies. If do not wish to reccivo such offers simpty nolHv us in wriiinn and il' P'o*'''o respondent's Information to other compa-
Different flraphic proseSto^fir^^^^^ OuT^erSrfaToov 'frT'*'"
simply write us to receive a Full Refund. If you accept any Money or Prfce from ;ur Reported

IF YOUR ADDRESS IS INCORRECT OR HAS CHANGED, PLEASE PRINT YOUR NEW ADDRESS AND INFORMATION HERE:

NAME

ADDRESS

ZIP CODE
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Complaint
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